IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RURAL TELEPHONE COMPANY,

Electronically Filed Jul 06 2016 11:11 a.m. Case No. 696 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

District Court Case No. 15 OC 00188 1B

VS.

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF NEVADA, AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.	

APPELLANT RURAL TELEPHONE COMPANY'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Order of the First Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada In and For Carson City)

KAREN A. PETERSON, NSB 366
kpeterson@allisonmackenzie.com
DAWN M. ELLERBROCK, NSB 7327
dellerbrock@allisonmackenzie.com
S. JORDAN WALSH, NSB 13481
jwalsh@allisonmackenzie.com
ALLISON MacKENZIE, LTD.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this case because this is an appeal from the District Court's dismissal of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review. NRS 703.376 provides that an appeal may be taken to this Court within sixty (60) days after service of the order or judgment of the District Court in the same manner as in other civil appeals. See NRAP 3A(b)(1).

On December 8, 2015, the District Court entered its Order Denying Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, Denying Motion for Extension of Time, Striking Opening Brief, and Dismissing Petition for Judicial Review ("Order"). Joint Appendix ("JA") Volume ("Vol.") 2 at 0272-0279. Written notice of the entry of the District Court's Order was served on December 9, 2015. JA Vol. 2 at 0280-0290. Thereafter, RURAL timely filed its Notice of Appeal, pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), on January 14, 2016. JA Vol. 2 at 0291-0293.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by this Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because this case relates to an appeal of a final decision of the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada ("Commission").

III.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the District Court erred in determining it did not have authority pursuant to NRS 703.373 to grant RURAL an extension of time to file its memorandum of points and authorities in support of its timely filed Petition for Judicial Review.

2. Whether the District Court erred in determining RURAL failed to cite any legal authority to support its Motion for Extension of Time.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order Denying Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, Denying Motion for Extension of Time, Striking Opening Brief, and Dismissing Petition for Judicial Review Order entered on December 8, 2015, by the Honorable James E. Wilson Jr., District Judge, First Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for Carson City.

On August 19, 2015, RURAL timely filed its Petition for Judicial Review requesting that the District Court review a final decision issued by the Commission on July 22, 2015. JA Vol. 1 0001-0063. On September 18, 2015, the Commission issued notice to RURAL that the stipulated record of proceeding under review had been submitted to the District Court. JA Vol. 1 at 0090-0099.

Pursuant to NRS 703.373(6), RURAL had until October 19, 2015, being thirty (30) days from the date the Commission gave written notice that the record had been filed with the District Court, to file a memorandum of points and authorities in support of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review. On October 16, 2015, three (3) days prior to the prescribed filing date, RURAL filed a Motion for

Extension of Time requesting that the District Court allow RURAL a thirty (30) day extension of time until November 18, 2015, to file a memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 0103-0114.

On October 26, 2015, the Commission filed an Opposition to RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time and Countermotion to Dismiss. JA Vol. 1 at 0115-0145. RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time and the Commission's Countermotion to Dismiss were fully briefed and submitted to the Court for decision. JA Vol. 1 at 0146-0221.

On November 18, 2015, RURAL filed a memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 2 at 0222-0271.

Although NRS 703.373(10) expressly mandates that "[a]ll actions brought under this section have precedence over any civil action of a different nature pending in the court," the District Court did not expeditiously rule on RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time. Rather, the District Court waited more than more than fifty (50) days after RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time had been filed on October 16, 2015, and issued an Order on December 8, 2015, denying RURAL's request for an extension of time, striking RURAL's memorandum of points and authorities, and dismissing RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 2 at 0272-0279.

The District Court erred when it failed to expeditiously consider RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time as mandated by NRS 703.373(10). The District Court compounded its error when it dismissed RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review on December 8, 2015, even though RURAL's memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review had already been filed with the District Court on November 18, 2015. The actions of the District Court deprived RURAL of its substantial right to appeal the final decision of the Commission in contravention of NRS 703.373.

V.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Parties to this Appeal.

RURAL is an Idaho corporation, qualified and doing business as a foreign corporation under the laws of the State of Nevada. JA Vol. 1 at 0002. RURAL holds a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity designated CPC 854, Sub 3 issued by the Commission. JA Vol. 1 at 0002. This Certificate authorizes RURAL to provide local exchange telephone service in portions of rural Washoe and Elko Counties, State of Nevada. JA Vol. 1 at 0002. RURAL is a "rural telephone company" under federal law and a small-scale provider of last resort and eligible telecommunications carrier under Nevada law. JA Vol. 1 at

0002. RURAL serves approximately 817 residential and business customers in Nevada. JA Vol. 1 at 0002.

The Commission is an administrative agency of the State of Nevada created pursuant to NRS 703.020. JA Vol. 1 at 0002. The Commission is authorized to supervise and regulate the operation and maintenance of public utilities and telephone service providers pursuant to NRS Chapters 703 and 704, and consistent with federal law. JA Vol. 1 at 0002.

B. The Final Decision of the Commission.

RURAL filed an application seeking an increase in its revenue requirement with the Commission which was designated as Docket No. 14-11006 by the Commission. JA Vol. 1 at 0002, 0008-0009. On July 22, 2015, the Commission issued a Modified Order in Docket No. 14-11006. JA Vol. 1 at 0008-0063. The Modified Order is a 56-page final decision of the Commission that prejudices the substantial rights of RURAL. In its Petition for Judicial Review, RURAL argued its due process rights were violated by the Commission's policy advisor's adversarial, investigatory and prosecutorial role during the hearing when the policy advisor also acted as an adjudicator. JA Vol. 1 at 0004-0005. In addition, RURAL contended the Commission erred by reallocating certain expenses, disallowing certain other expenses and setting RURAL's rates in

accordance with a new Commission policy improperly adopted without complying with the Administrative Procedures Act. JA Vol. 1 at 0004.

C. Procedural History of the District Court Case.

Because the final decision of the Commission prejudices the substantial rights of RURAL, RURAL timely filed a Petition for Judicial Review on August 19, 2015. JA Vol. 1 at 0001-0063. The Petition for Judicial Review and Summons were served on the Commission on August 20, 2015. JA Vol. 1 at 0064-0067. On September 18, 2015, the Commission filed a certified copy of the stipulated record of the proceeding under review in the District Court. JA Vol. 1 at 0090-0099.

On October 15, 2015, counsel for RURAL contacted counsel for the Commission and requested that the parties stipulate to a thirty (30) day extension of time, or until November 18, 2015, for RURAL to file a memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 1 at 0110. On October 16, 2015, counsel for the Commission sent email correspondence to counsel for RURAL stating: "We are not opposed to a 10-day extension, but, considering the Commission's anticipated workload in November/December, we would ask that you file a motion with the Court if you would like a longer continuance. Thank you." JA Vol. 1 at 0110, 0201. On that same day (being

October 16, 2015), and three (3) days prior to the October 19th deadline for filing a memorandum of points and authorities, RURAL filed a Motion for Extension of Time requesting that the District Court allow a 30-day extension to November 18, 2015, to file a memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 1 at 0103-0114.

On October 26, 2015, the Commission filed an Opposition to RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time and Countermotion to Dismiss. JA Vol. 1 at 0115-0145. In its Opposition, the Commission opposed an extension of time and argued that RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review should be dismissed because RURAL's failure to file a memorandum of points and authorities on or before October 19th divested the District Court of jurisdiction. JA Vol. 1 at 0115-0145. In support of its position, the Commission relied on the legislative history of Assembly Bill ("A.B.") 17 passed in 2011. JA Vol. 1 at 0115-0145. The Commission did not argue that a 30-day extension would prejudice the Commission in any way or that it opposed the extension based upon its anticipated workload.

On November 3, 2015, RURAL filed its Reply to Opposition to Motion for Extension of Time and Opposition to Countermotion to Dismiss. JA Vol. 1 at 0146-0204. In its Reply, RURAL argued that the deadline for filing a

memorandum of points and authorities under NRS 703.373 was not jurisdictional and that the legislative history of NRS 703.373 in A.B. 17 provided no support for the Commission's assertion that the briefing deadlines in NRS 703.373 may not be extended. JA Vol. 0146-0204. RURAL also argued that the Commission would have no authority to agree to a 10-day extension if the statute's timeframe to file a memorandum of points and authorities was mandatory and jurisdictional. JA Vol. 0146-0204. On November 3, 2015, RURAL submitted a Request for Submission of its Motion for Extension of Time. JA Vol. 1 at 0205-0207.

On November 13, 2015, the Commission filed its Reply to RURAL's Opposition to Respondent's Countermotion to Dismiss. JA Vol. 1 at 0208-0219. The Commission filed a Request for Submission of its Countermotion to Dismiss. JA Vol. 1 at 0220-0221.

Having not received any order from the District Court on either Motion, on November 18, 2015, RURAL filed a memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 1 at 0222-0271.

On December 8, 2015, more than fifty (50) days after RURAL's Motion for Extension of Time had been filed on October 16, 2015, the District Court issued an Order Denying Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, Denying Motion for Extension of Time, Striking Opening Brief, and Dismissing

Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 2 at 0272-0279. In its Order, the District Court correctly held that RURAL's failure to timely file its memorandum of points and authorities did not divest the court of jurisdiction. JA Vol. 1 at 0273-0274. However, the District Court concluded that it lacked authority to grant RURAL's request for an extension of time to file its memorandum of points and authorities in support of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 2 at 0274-0277. The District Court also concluded RURAL failed to cite any legal authority to support its Motion for Extension of Time and the Motion must be denied for that reason as well. JA Vol. 2 at 0277-0278. As such, the District Court struck RURAL's memorandum of points and authorities in support of its Petition for Judicial Review previously filed on November 18, 2015, and dismissed RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review. JA Vol. 2 at 0278.

In its Order entered on December 8, 2015, the District Court noted its awareness of NRS 703.373(10) and the legislative mandate that judicial review of a final decision of the Commission must have priority over any other civil actions of a different nature pending in the court. JA Vol. 2 at 0278. Despite the precedence requirement, the District Court acknowledged that its handling of this case was deficient:

¹ This determination by the District Court was not appealed to this Court.

Court procedures were deficient and this case was not submitted for a decision until after Rural filed a request to submit and even then the matter was not immediately presented to the court for decision. The court's procedures have been modified to correct the deficiencies. The court apologizes for the delay.

JA Vol. 2 at 0278.

As a result of the District Court's refusal to consider RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review, a timely Notice of Appeal was filed by RURAL. JA Vol. 2 at 0291-0293.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court's dismissal of RURAL's timely filed Petition for Judicial Review deprived RURAL of its substantial right to appeal the final decision of the Commission in contravention of NRS 703.373. The District Court's construction of NRS 703.373 was contrary to the rules of statutory construction regulating the right to appeal which should not be taken away unless clearly intended by the Legislature. The District Court's dismissal of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review violates the policy that actions should be adjudicated on the merits. The District Court's interpretation of NRS 703.373 as prohibiting the court from granting an extension of time violates the separation of powers

doctrine and impermissibly acts as a legislative encroachment on the Court's power to do what is reasonably necessary to administer justice.

VII.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The District Court's determination that it lacked authority to extend the time for filing a memorandum of points and authority in support of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review is a conclusion of law based on a question of statutory construction which requires *de novo* review by this Court. See Irving v. Irving, 122 Nev. 494, 496, 134 P.3d 718, 720 (2006). When reviewing the interpretation of a statute, this Court has traditionally followed the plain meaning of the statute; absent an ambiguity. See Irving, 122 Nev. at 496, 134 P.3d at 720. However, where a "statute's language is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations," this Court looks to "the Legislature's intent in interpreting the statute" which "may be deduced by reason and public policy." Id.

In addition, where a procedural rule established by the Legislature impermissibly acts as a legislative encroachment on the Court's power to do what is reasonably necessary to administer justice, the statute is impermissible as it violates the separation of powers doctrine. See Tate v. Board of Medical

Examiners, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 67, 356 P.3d 506, 507 (2015); Borger v. District Court, 120 Nev. 1021, 1029, 102 P.3d 600, 606 (2004).

VIII.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The District Court Erred When it Dismissed RURAL's Timely Petition for Judicial Review.</u>

Pursuant to NRS 703.373(1), "[a]ny party of record to a proceeding before the Commission is entitled to judicial review of the final decision upon the exhaustion of all administrative remedies by the party of record seeking judicial review." (Emphasis added.) NRS 703.373(3) states, in pertinent part, "[a] petition for judicial review must be filed within 30 days after final action by the Commission on reconsideration or rehearing."

When a petition for judicial review of a final decision of the Commission is timely filed, the district court "must" conduct a review of the Commission's decision without a jury and such review is confined to the record. See NRS 703.373(8). Furthermore, the district court may affirm the decision or set it aside in whole or in part if the substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced. See NRS 703.373(11). See also Manke Truck Lines v. Public Service Comm'n, 109 Nev. 1034, 1036 n.1, 862 P.2d 1201, 1202 n.1, (1993) (noting that the district court is not authorized to "deny" a petition for judicial review; rather,

the court may affirm the decision of the Commission or set it aside in whole or in part).

It is clear that the failure to timely file a petition for judicial review under NRS 703.373(3) divests the district court of jurisdiction to review a final decision of the Commission. See Crane v. Continental Telephone, 105 Nev. 399, 401, 775 P.2d 705, 706 (1989). In Crane v. Continental Telephone, the aggrieved party of a final decision of the Commission failed to timely file a petition for judicial review. Crane, 105 Nev. at 401, 775 P.2d at 706. Instead, the aggrieved party filed a complaint in the district court more than six (6) months after the procedural deadline for filing a petition for judicial review under NRS 703.373. Id. at 400, 775 P.2d at 706. Thus, the district court dismissed the complaint with prejudice for lack of jurisdiction due to the failure to satisfy the procedural and time requirements of NRS 703.373. Id. at 401, 775 P.2d at 706. This Court affirmed the district court's dismissal holding that failure to file a timely petition for judicial review divests the district court of jurisdiction. Id. This Court stated that "[c]ourts have no inherent appellate jurisdiction over official acts of administrative agencies except where the legislature has made some statutory provision for judicial review. . . . When the legislature creates a specific procedure for review of administrative agency decisions, such procedure is controlling." Id.

Accord Washoe County. v. Otto, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012) (stating that a petitioner must strictly comply with a statute's jurisdictional procedural requirements to invoke a district court's jurisdiction to review an administrative decision).

In this case, RURAL is the aggrieved party of a final decision rendered by the Commission on July 22, 2015. Therefore, RURAL is entitled to judicial review of the Commission's decision. See NRS 703.373(1). Moreover, since the final decision was issued on July 22, 2015, and RURAL filed its Petition for Judicial Review on August 19, 2015, RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review was timely pursuant to NRS 703.373(3). As such, there is and was no dispute as to the jurisdiction of the District Court to consider RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review.

B. The District Court's Dismissal of RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review Denied RURAL Its Right to Judicial Review.

In its Order dismissing RURAL's Petition for Judicial Review, the District Court erroneously concluded that it lacked authority to grant an extension of time to file a memorandum of points and authorities. JA Vol. 2 at 0274-0277. Specifically, the District Court determined that "since this court does not have inherent jurisdiction over Commission administrative decisions, the court must enforce the statutory procedures implemented by the legislature."

JA Vol. 2 at 0275. In reaching this decision, the District Court looked to the legislative history of NRS 703.373 and concluded that the Legislature intended to prevent courts from granting extensions of time. JA Vol. 2 at 0275-0277. The District Court's reasoning, however, is flawed and its decision to deny RURAL its right to judicial review of the Commission's final decision must be reversed.

A review of the legislative history of NRS 703.373 illustrates that the Legislature intended to "fast track" the judicial review process of final decisions of the Commission. See Hearing on A.B. 17 Before the Senate Government Affairs Comm., 76th Leg. (Nev. March 25, 2011). The Legislature wanted the judicial review process to take approximately 4 to 6 months, as opposed to the current 9 to 30 months.² See Hearing on A.B. 17 Before the Senate Government Affairs Comm., 76th Leg. (Nev. April 27, 2011).

David Noble: No, under NRS 703.373 there is a process for judicial review already. What NRS 233B.039 does on top of that is to allow for cross-petitions. It allows for extended briefing and new evidence to come

² The District Court's quotation of the legislative history on page 5 of its Order is misleading. JA Vol. 2 at 0276. The question and answer in the legislative history quoted in full states:

Assemblywoman Neal: You mentioned in your testimony that you were seeking to shorten the process and now you want to be exempt from the court doing judicial review on PUC decisions. Is that correct?

In its Order, the District Court misconstrued the legislative history to mean that an extension of time for filing a memorandum of points and authorities was statutorily prohibited. There is nothing in NRS 703.373 that states that the district court may not grant an extension of time. In fact, NRS 703.373(5) expressly authorizes the district court to allow the Commission additional time to file the entire record of proceeding under review. Therefore, it is incongruous that the Legislature intended for the Commission to be given additional time to meet filing requirements, yet intended to prohibit the district court from giving the aggrieved party additional time to file a memorandum of points and authorities.

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