### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RURAL TELEPHONE COMPANY,

Appellant,

Case No. 69612 Electronically Filed Aug 03 2016 03:27 p.m. District Court Case No. Lindeman 15 OC 00188 Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF NEVADA, AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF (Appeal from Order of the First Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for Carson City)

### HAYLEY WILLIAMSON, ESQ.

hwilliamson@puc.nv.gov Nevada Bar No. 13619 **GARRETT WEIR, ESQ.** gweir@puc.nv.gov

Nevada Bar No. 12300 1150 East William Street Carson City, NV 89701 Tel: 775-684-6174

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

### **IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The District Court correctly dismissed Rural's Petition for Judicial Review. This case is about the narrow issue of whether the District Court had the authority to extend the statutorily-mandated deadline for filing an opening brief. NRS 703.373(6) states that "[a] petitioner who is seeking judicial review must serve and file a memorandum of points and authorities within 30 days after the Commission gives written notice to the parties that the record of the proceeding under review has been filed with the court." Rural had 30 days to file its memorandum with the Commission but failed to do so. In fact, Rural waited an additional 30 days before finally filing the memorandum.

The District Court found that it had no authority to extend the opening brief deadline. The District Court stated that "since this Court does not have inherent jurisdiction over Commission administrative decisions, the court must enforce the statutory procedures implemented by the legislature... Included in [NRS 703.373] are mandatory fast-track deadlines for filing briefs. NRS 703.373 does not expressly give the court authority to extend the opening brief deadline." JA Vol. 2 at 02075-0276.

In support of its dismissal, the District Court cited the legislative history of NRS 703.373. JA Vol. 2 at 02075-0276. The legislative history of NRS 703.373(6) leaves no doubt that the purpose of NRS 703.373(6) is to fast-track the

judicial review process of Commission decisions. NRS 703.373 was amended by Assembly Bill 17 (2011) ("AB 17") to explicitly require a fast-tracked review process for Commission decisions.

Finally, Rural failed to cite any supporting legal authority to support its Motion. The District Court correctly concluded that this failure to cite any legal authority must also lead to a denial of Rural's Motion.

### V. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review.

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which requires de novo review. <u>See Irving v. Irving</u>, 122 Nev. 494, 496 (2006) (citing <u>White v. Warden</u>, 96 Nev. 634, 636, 614 P.2d 536, 537 (1980); <u>Clark Cty. Educ. Ass'n v. Clark Cty.</u> <u>Sch. Dist.</u>, 122 Nev. 337, 131 P.3d 5, 10 (2006)). When reviewing the interpretation of a statute, this Court has traditionally followed the plain meaning of the statute, absent an ambiguity. <u>See Irving</u>, 122 Nev. at 496, 134 P.3d at 720. However, where a "statute's language is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations," this Court looks to "the Legislature's intent in interpreting the statute," which "may be deduced by reason and public policy." <u>Id.</u>

///

///

# B. The District Court Correctly Held that It Did Not Have the Authority to Extend an Opening Brief Deadline because the Timeline Established by NRS 703.373(6) Is Mandatory.

1. Strict compliance with statutory timelines applies broadly and is not limited to cases that involve initiation of an administrative appeal.

NRS 703.373(6) states, "A petitioner who is seeking judicial review must serve and file a memorandum of points and authorities within 30 days after the Commission gives written notice to the parties that the record of the proceeding under review has been filed with the court." Rural argues that strict compliance with statutory timelines is limited to the *initiation* of an administrative appeal filing a petition for judicial review. Rural Br. at 13-15. Rural is wrong on this point. The Nevada Supreme Court's principle of deeming a time limit mandatory where the statute is silent as to whether the time limit can be excused has been applied outside the narrow confines that Rural identifies. For instance, in Leven v. Frey, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that the judgment renewal statute's threeday timeline must be strictly followed because "[t]he Legislature did not provide for any deviations from this requirement, and we perceive no reason to extend this period in contravention of the Legislature's clear and express language." 123 Nev. 399, 408, 409, 168 P.3d 712, 718, 719 (2007). Thus, Leven strictly enforced the timeline applicable to the judgment renewal statute after finding no legal ground to deviate from the mandatory time limit.<sup>1</sup> NRS 703.373(6) does not contain any provision that would allow for a deviation from the 30-day requirement. The District Court agreed when it held that "this court does not have inherent jurisdiction over Commission administrative decisions" and that "the court must enforce the statutory procedures implemented by the legislature." JA Vol. 2 at 2075.

# 2. Under NRS 703.373, the 30-day timeline for filing a memorandum of points and authorities is no less mandatory than the 30-day timeline for filing a petition for judicial review.

NRS 703.373 uses nearly identical language to set forth the 30-day subsection (3) timeline to initiate a petition for judicial review and the 30-day subsection (6) timeline to file a memorandum of points and authorities. Both subsections contain mandatory and non-discretionary "*must file*" language. Rural acknowledges that its failure to file a petition for judicial review in accordance with subsection (3) would have been fatal to this action (Rural Br. at 13-15); however, when looking at essentially identical language of subsection (6), Rural arrives at the opposite conclusion and demands that it receive double the time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Other examples of dismissals for failure to meet statutory timelines include mechanics' liens cases (see e.g., Cox Const. Co., LLC v. CH2 Investments, LLC, 296 P.3d 1202, 1204 (Nev. 2013) (a lien was found to be untimely and action dismissed because the plaintiff filed the lien after the 90-day period provided for in NRS 108.226 had lapsed)) and dismissals for failure to meet Nevada's statute of limitations provisions contained within NRS Chapter 11.

provided for in subsection (6) to file its memorandum. Rural's position is inconsistent. Rural simply tries to bend the statutory language to suit whatever particular set of circumstances in which it finds itself—if Rural is compliant with a timeline, it acknowledges that the timeline is mandatory, but if Rural fails to meet a timeline set in the same statute using the same language, Rural argues that the timeline is flexible.

Finally, Rural ignores the clear statutory language that distinguishes a mandatory subsection of NRS 703.373 with a discretionary subsection. NRS 703.373(5) reads:

Within 30 days after the service of the petition for judicial review *or such time as is allowed by the court,* the Commission shall transmit to the reviewing court a certified copy of the entire record of the proceeding under review...

(Emphasis added). The "or such time as is allowed by the court" portion of NRS 703.373(5) explicitly authorizes the Court to modify the timeline to transmit the certified administrative record. In sharp contrast to NRS 703.373(5), subsection (6) gives no authority to the Court to modify the submission timeline for Rural's memorandum of points and authorities. Rural asks this Court to read into NRS 703.373 the language that the Legislature left out.

*3. Disregarding the 30-day timeline would render NRS 703.373(6) meaningless.* 

With no applicable provision authorizing a deviation from the NRS

703.373(6) timeline, Rural asks this Court to simply disregard the statute's 30-day provision. In <u>Stockmeier v. Psychological Review Panel</u>, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that statutes should be interpreted "to give meaning to each of their parts, such that, when read in context, none of the statutory language is rendered mere surplusage." 122 Nev. 534, 540, 135 P.3d 807, 810 (2006). Rural's request necessarily renders NRS 703.373(6) meaningless because the statute's only purpose is to establish a 30-day timeline for filing a memorandum of points and authorities.

# C. NRS 703.373 is Clear and Unambiguous, but if the Court Considers the Legislative History of NRS 703.373, It is Clear the Legislature Intended the 30-day Timeline to Be Inflexible.

The statutory language of NRS 703.373(6) is clear and unambiguous: "A petitioner who is seeking judicial review must serve and file a memorandum of points and authorities within 30 days after the Commission gives written notice to the parties that the record of the proceeding under review has been filed with the court." It is well-settled in Nevada that, where a statute is clear on its face, a court may not go beyond the language of the statute in determining the Legislature's intent. <u>Thompson v. District Court</u>, 100 Nev. 352, 354, 683 P.2d 17, 19 (1984). Here, the mandatory filing timeline language is clear. Accordingly, compliance with the NRS 703.373(6) 30-day filing timeline is mandatory. However, even if

the Court finds that NRS 703.373(6) is unclear and ambiguous, the legislative history shows that the Legislature intended for the 30-day timeline to be inflexible.

The legislative history of NRS 703.373 makes clear that NRS 703.373 was modeled after NRS 233B with one important exception: while NRS 233B.133(6) clearly allows the court to extend the time for filing memoranda upon a showing of good cause, a similar provision is noticeably absent from NRS 703.373. "It is ordinarily presumed that the legislature, by deleting an express portion of a law, intended a substantial change in the law." McKay v. Board of Sup'rs of Carson City, 102 Nev. 644, 650, 730 P.2d 438, 442 (1986). Here, the Legislature purposefully chose not to include an extension of time provision within NRS 703.373 to streamline judicial review of the Commission's decisions. As the District Court stated, "Here, the legislature enacted NRS 703.373 giving the court jurisdiction to judicially review Commission administrative decisions. Included in that statute are mandatory fast-track deadlines for filing briefs. NRS 703.373 does not expressly give the court authority to extend the opening brief deadline." JA Vol. 2 at 2075.

AB 17 created NRS 703.373. The hearings on AB 17 make it clear that the Legislature intended for NRS 703.373 to include mandatory, fast-track deadlines. The Commission's Assistant General Counsel and Utilities Hearing Officer testified at a February 9, 2011, legislative hearing on AB 17 regarding the need for

### NRS 703.373. He testified:

The reason for the fast-track review of commission decisions is based on two premises: money and infrastructure. All Commission decisions basically touch on one of these two issues. With regards to money, there is the issue of rate stability. The Commission has, in its process, general rate cases - that is a top down review of all utilities operations, revenues, and recovery rates which are on a two to three-year cycle. If the judicial review process of a decision takes one, two, or three years you have the potential of a spike in rates. If that happened, a Commission decision would go into effect at the same time that a Supreme Court decision would go into effect. That would have the effect of spiking the rates. The other issue is carrying charges. Once Commission decisions are issued they are deemed effective. Unless there is an injunction they go into effect immediately. Those binding rates are then recovered by ratepayers. If there is subsequently a refund or additional monies to be recovered from or to the rate payers there are carrying charges - basically interest on these monies that either the Commission or the ratepayers are going to have to pay. The shorter the time frame for judicial review that we have, the less carrying charges there are.

Lastly, with regards to money there is what is called 'intergenerational equities.' When a rate goes into effect there is a certain pool of ratepayers. If judicial review takes one to three years that pool of ratepayers changes over that time and there is not an equal comparison. If a refund needs to be issued, there are some people that are going to get that refund without having paid previously and others who are no longer in the area that should have gotten that refund.

With regards to utility infrastructure we have resource planning proceedings. This deals with utilities throughout the state that are regulated by us. A person does this through a construction permit or a resource planning process where they get approval to build something. They need to have certainty in a short amount of time as to whether or not they can go forward with their building. When the state was booming, it was very difficult for the Commission to even keep up with the growth. They need to have finality to know whether or not they can build that infrastructure in order to provide reliable and adequate service.

• • •

What NRS 233B.039 does... It allows for *extended briefing*... *Those* were never things that were contemplated for judicial review of the Commission. It was a question of whether to follow NRS 703.373 or NRS 233B.039 judicial review provisions.

Minutes of the Meeting of the Assemb. Comm. on Government Affairs, Seventy-Sixth Session, Feb. 9, 2011, pp. 45-47. (Emphasis added.) The Legislature, at the Commission's request, used NRS 233B.133 as a template in formulating NRS 703.373. The Commission did not request and the Legislature did not include in NRS 703.373 a provision similar to NRS 233B.133(6), which authorizes a court, for good cause, to extend the time allowed. As the District Court stated, "In light of the fact that one of primary purposes of AB 17 was to fast-track Commission judicial reviews, the Commission's and the legislature's failure to confer on courts the authority to expressly grant extensions of briefing deadlines appears to be intentional." JA Vol. 2 at 2075. The District Court correctly held that it did not have authority to grant Rural a 30-day extension over the Commission's objection.

As further support of this clear mandate of the Legislature, NRS 233B.133 directly conflicts with NRS 703.373 and cannot be harmonized. Whereas NRS 233B.133(1) allows a petitioner 40 days to file a memorandum of points and authorities subsequent to the agency's notice of filing of the administrative record with the court, NRS 703.373 allows only 30 days. Whereas NRS 233B.133(3) allows a petitioner to file a reply to the agency's response, NRS 703.373 contains no provision that allows a reply from the petitioner. Whereas NRS 233B.133(4)

allows the parties an option to request a hearing within seven days of the briefings closure, NRS 703.373(7) provides that the parties *must* be ready for a hearing upon 20 days' notice following the submission of the Commission's brief. And, whereas NRS 233B.133(6) allows the Court to extend the timeline for filing memoranda upon a showing of good cause, no such provision exists in NRS 703.373. Thus, the timelines and flexibility set forth in NRS 233B.133 do not apply to judicial review of Commission decisions. Instead, Rural is bound by the timelines set forth in NRS 703.373. Petitioner cites no authority that would allow a contrary determination.

# D. Rural Cites No Case Law where a Court Disregarded a Statutory Timeline.

Rural states, "This Court has cautioned that dismissal for procedural errors 'should be used only in extreme situations' and should be weighed against other factors including 'the policy favoring adjudication on the merits." Rural Br. at 22. However, three of the cases Rural cites do not support Rural's statement. None of the three cases dealt with a procedural deadline. None of the three cases even use the phrase "procedural errors." The word "procedure" does not even appear in two of the three cases. The primary case Rural cites in support of its argument, <u>Nevada</u> <u>Power Co. v. Fluor Illinois</u>, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992), actually overturned a lower court's dismissal for failure to obey a discovery order precluding a demolition of a key piece of evidence in the case—hardly a procedural error. 108 Nev. at 645. Another case cited by Rural, <u>Miles v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 383, 91 P.3d 588 (2004), dealt with the issue of authenticity of a signature on the original verified habeas corpus petition. Finally, <u>Forman v. Eagle Thrifty</u> <u>Drugs & Markets, Inc.</u>, 89 Nev. 533, 516 P.2d 1234 (1973), in relevant part, addressed the issue of implications of a wrong judgment referenced in the appeal notice.

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